COPY

**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA**

JOSHUA GRAHAM PACKER,  
Petitioner,

v.

THE SUPERIOR COURT OF VENTURA  
COUNTY,  
Respondent,

THE PEOPLE,  
Real Party in Interest.

S 213894

Ct. App. 2/6 B245923

Ventura County  
Super. Ct. No. 2010013013

SUPREME COURT  
FILED

JAN 21 2014

Frank A. McGuire Clerk  
Deputy

**OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

STEPHEN P. LIPSON, Public Defender  
By Michael C. McMahan, Chief Deputy  
*State Bar Certified Specialist – Appellate Law*  
*State Bar Certified Specialist – Criminal Law*  
SBN 71909  
800 S. Victoria Avenue, HOJ-207  
Ventura, California 93009  
(805) 477 - 7114  
michael.mcmahan@ventura.org  
Attorney for Petitioner

## Discussion

### I.

**This Court should write an opinion holding that a defendant makes a prima facie showing for an evidentiary hearing when he presents facts and circumstances demonstrating a reasonable possibility that the conflicted prosecutor may not exercise his discretionary decisions in an evenhanded manner *and* an evidentiary hearing is necessary to determine whether the conflict is so grave as to render it unlikely that the defendant will receive fair treatment.**

In *People v. Superior Court (Greer)* (1977) 19 Cal.3d 255, this Court considered whether, and under what circumstances, a trial court possesses the authority to recuse a district attorney's office from a case and to direct the Attorney General to take over the prosecution. Three years later, section 1424 was added to the Penal Code. Since its enactment in 1980, section 1424 has governed motions to disqualify the prosecuting attorney. The statute requires the defense to make a motion in writing with notice, and to include affidavits. (*Id.*, at subd. (a)(1).) The statute further provides, "[t]he judge shall review the affidavits and determine whether or not an evidentiary hearing is necessary." (*Ibid.*)

Under section 1424, the defendant must demonstrate the existence of a conflict of interest. A conflict of interest exists "whenever the circumstances of a case evidence a reasonable possibility that the [conflicted person or entity] may not exercise its discretionary function in an evenhanded manner." (*People v. Conner* (1983) 34 Cal.3d 141, p. 148; accord, *People v. Snow* (2003) 30 Cal.4th 43, 86; *Hambarian v. Superior Court* (2002) 27 Cal.4th 826, 833; *People v. Millwee* (1998) 18 Cal.4th 96, 123; *People v. Eubanks* (1996) 14 Cal.4th 580, 592.)

Packer respectfully asserts that the circumstances of this case evidence a reasonable possibility that Michael Frawley may not exercise his discretionary function in an evenhanded manner.

The closer question is whether Michael Frawley's conflict is so grave as to render it unlikely that Packer will receive fair treatment. Under the circumstances of this case, an evidentiary hearing is necessary to assess the gravity of the conflict and the likelihood of unfair treatment.

In this case, the trial judge denied the recusal motion based solely on the affidavits submitted by both sides, and refused to conduct any evidentiary hearing. The Court of Appeal affirmed this action, ruling, "In sum, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in concluding that Packer had not made a prima facie showing that the prosecutor's apparent conflict of interest was so grave as to result in an actual likelihood of unfair treatment. The court consequently did not abuse its discretion in denying an evidentiary hearing or in denying his recusal motion." (Slip opn., p. 19; citation and quotation marks omitted.)

Section 1424 should be construed to permit an evidentiary hearing when such a hearing is necessary to make that determination. The record in this case suggests that the trial court believed (as was argued by the prosecutor) that an evidentiary hearing was not authorized for this purpose.

This point of law should be clarified. Because this Court's recusal jurisprudence arises from cases in which the defendant was at least afforded *the opportunity* of an evidentiary hearing, it is unclear under what circumstances a court may determine that an evidentiary hearing is necessary.

*Spaccia v. Superior Court* (2012) 209 Cal.App.4th 93, was a case in which a court did not abuse its discretion to deny a recusal motion without an evidentiary hearing, but it is quite different than the circumstances of the instant case. Spaccia's request for an evidentiary hearing was based on her attempt to show an appearance of impropriety if the district attorney's office continued to prosecute her case. (*Id.*, at p. 108.) An evidentiary hearing was properly denied because a mere

appearance of impropriety is an insufficient basis on which to recuse a prosecutor's office as a matter of law. Packer concurs: when the defendant's *legal theory* for recusal is, itself, defective no evidentiary hearing is necessary. An appearance of impropriety is not a conflict. When no conflict is demonstrated, no evidentiary hearing is ever necessary.

The charges against Spaccia related, in part, to her involvement in a transaction in which Randy Adams was purportedly hired by the city of Bell to act as the city's chief of police, for a very substantial salary, the amount of which was hidden from the City Council. Spaccia requested an evidentiary hearing to take testimony from Adams, whom she predicted would refuse to testify by asserting his privilege against self-incrimination. Under such odd circumstances, it was not an abuse of discretion to deny the motion without an evidentiary hearing.

Because of its unique facts (and rather inept presentation by Spaccia's counsel), *Spaccia v. Superior Court* offers this court little guidance here.

Packer contends that the court's formulation in *Spaccia* of what is *required* to warrant an evidentiary hearing (*Id.*, at pp. 111-112) may be inappropriate in cases where reluctant or hostile witnesses could not assert a privilege against self-incrimination at the hearing, thereby defeating the purpose of an evidentiary hearing. However, given that Spaccia's entire theory for recusal was fatally flawed, this portion of the opinion appears to be dicta. "Even if an evidentiary hearing established everything Spaccia had hoped it would establish," recusal was barred by law. (*Id.*, at p. 112.) Clearly in *Spaccia*, no evidentiary hearing was necessary. It does not appear that *Spaccia* has been cited in any published opinion concerning the prima facie case.

/

/

## II.

**Alternatively, this Court should write an opinion holding that a defendant makes a prima facie showing for an evidentiary hearing when he presents facts and circumstances demonstrating *an intolerable risk* that the defendant will not receive fair treatment.**

The likelihood of an unfair trial described in section 1424, should not call for a pretrial prediction that any conviction at trial would likely be overturned on appeal. Such a standard is impracticable.

The doctrine of harmless error dictates that unfairness by the prosecutor may ultimately be determined to be harmless, but only after careful scrutiny of the entire appellate record - which does not exist at the time a recusal motion is considered.

Packer contends that the trial court abused its discretion in denying an evidentiary hearing because he presented facts and circumstances demonstrating an *intolerable risk* that the defendant will not receive fair treatment.

If the prima facie showing for an evidentiary hearing is an intolerable risk of unfairness, the standard promotes judicial economy. No court should be forced to deny an evidentiary hearing when confronted by such a showing. It reasonably appears that the Legislative intent behind section 1424 was the promotion of judicial economy. That goal would be furthered by adoption of an intolerable risk standard for the prima facie showing.

Use of an unreasonably burdensome legal standard for evaluating the prima facie showing frustrates judicial economy. Here, had the court conducted an evidentiary hearing, it is likely it could have been concluded in a day or two.

Packer is aware that there are important differences between judicial recusal and recusal of a prosecutor. Nevertheless, both involve some pretrial

assessment of the likelihood of bias and prejudice. In neither context should the defendant be called upon to prove actual prejudice before trial, and both contexts implicate important due process protections. (Cf. *Hurles v. Ryan* (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2011) 650 F.3d 1301 [due process requires judicial recusal where the probability of actual bias on the part of the judge or decision maker is too high to be constitutionally tolerable]; see also *Caperton v. A.T. Massey Coal Co., Inc.* (2009) 556 U.S. 868.)

In the instant case, a trial prosecuted by Michael Frawley presents an intolerable risk of unfairness.

### III.

**When determining whether or not an evidentiary hearing is necessary, the court should consider whether witnesses material to the recusal issue are unavailable to the defendant absent use of the compulsory process of the court.**

In the instant case, an evidentiary hearing is necessary because witnesses who are material to the issue of recusal include witnesses who are not readily available to the defendant absent the compulsory process of the court. At an evidentiary hearing in the Packer case, the defense would subpoena witnesses who will not voluntarily submit an affidavit in support of recusing Michael Frawley. These witnesses are:

- Kyle Frawley, Michael Frawley's son;
- Elizabeth "Ellie" Frawley, Michael Frawley's daughter;
- Linda Frawley, Michael Frawley's wife;
- Thomas Cathcart, Ellie Frawley's former boyfriend;
- Lisa West, Michael Frawley's ex-wife;
- Deputy Sheriff Scott Bauer; and,
- District Attorney Investigator Matt Harvill.

These witnesses, because of their relationship to the assigned prosecutor, are not available to the defense to voluntarily provide an affidavit in support of the recusal of the assigned prosecutor.

“The process by which the attendance of a witness before a court or magistrate is required is a subpoena.” (Pen. Code section 1326, subd. (a).) However, there is no process to compel a reluctant or hostile witness to provide a capital defendant in a high-profile prosecution with a voluntary affidavit.

In determining whether an evidentiary hearing is necessary, the court should consider the circumstance that witnesses material to the recusal issue are not available to the defendant other than by subpoena.

In a letter to this Court urging your grant of review, the Public Defender of Los Angeles County put it this way: “In these situations, a trial judge should not be permitted to deny a recusal motion based solely on what will amount to incomplete affidavits. It should not, and cannot, be the rule that one party can refuse to cooperate with the other and thereby prevent that party from conducting an evidentiary hearing where the information can be fully developed and explored. Yet this is the inevitable consequence of the Court of Appeal’s opinion. \* \* \* In those cases, . . . where the prosecution refuses to cooperate with the defense, and the defense seeks an evidentiary hearing to compel disclosure of information about the conflict, a rule permitting the trial judge to deny the recusal motion solely on the basis of the affidavits would be quite unfair. This court should not permit that result, a result the Court of Appeal endorses.”

That well-written letter from the largest criminal defense office in the world supports Packer’s position before this court. It is in this Court’s file and was served on all of the parties. It is “worth the candle” for a second reading, but for purposes of brevity, Packer will leave that to the discretion of the Court and other parties.

In *Morrow v. Superior Court* (1994) 30 Cal.App.4th 1252, a prosecutor from the same district attorney's office (Ventura County) used her investigator to eavesdrop on a courtroom conversation between defendant and his attorney. Morrow moved to dismiss because of prosecutorial misconduct. The defense called the prosecutor and the investigator as witnesses at the hearing on the motion to dismiss. They exercised the right to remain silent and refused to answer questions claiming the privilege against self-incrimination. The privilege was sustained.

After limiting access to the facts, the prosecution then took the position that dismissal was inappropriate because Morrow had not proven prejudice by the misconduct. Reviewing an order denying the motion, the Court of Appeal held that: "Where a prosecutor orchestrates courtroom eavesdropping on a privileged attorney-client communication and the witnesses thereto invoke the privilege against self-incrimination, the prosecution may not successfully oppose a motion to dismiss on the ground that no prejudice has been shown." (*Id.*, at p. 1258.)

Here, Packer finds himself in a similar predicament. Circumstantial evidence supports the conclusion that Michael Frawley has had conversations with many of the witnesses material to the recusal issues. Frawley has made factual representations that could not be made without such conversations. (Vol. 1, pp. 28-32.) Frawley has revealed what he chooses to reveal, but no more, stating only that "I do not believe any further information is necessary or required, legally or ethically...." (*Id.*, at p. 30.)

After refusing to provide "any further information" despite the very specific and focused questions from the defense, (*Id.*, at p. 29) Frawley then takes the position that no evidentiary hearing is authorized because Packer's prima facie showing is inadequate. Frawley's position makes an evidentiary hearing not only necessary, but essential. The court abused its discretion in denying further hearing, but may have done so by adopting Frawley's standard for a prima facie showing. That standard does not sit well on these facts.

#### IV.

**The trial court abused its discretion by denying the motion for recusal without an evidentiary hearing on the grounds that defendant failed to make a prima facie showing that recusal was warranted.**

**Frawley's conflict of interest infects pretrial discovery and investigation as well as both the guilt and penalty phases of the trial.**

This is a "cold-hit," capital murder case in which the People continue to seek death. As in all capital cases, the circumstances of the crime are horrific. Although the prosecution may get this case to a penalty phase, the defense has powerful evidence in mitigation, and has an excellent chance of an LWOP verdict if given a fair trial after full and fair discovery and unimpeded pretrial investigation.

Joshua Packer's (Packer) upbringing was unimaginably horrible. Direct damage was done to Packer from being molested as a child on multiple occasions by separate men who were given access to him by negligent caregivers; from being abandoned by caregivers; from receiving a head injury at age 6 and disfigurement at age 8 due to parental neglect; from being attacked in his home by a drug addict at age 6; from being attacked in his bed by a wanted sex offender at age 11; and from being exposed in his home to drug use, drug trafficking, and domestic violence. In addition, the cumulative turmoil from every single caregiver in Packer's life having run-ins with the law; having to get cars out of impound; calling from the jail to make bail; coming to court; being on probation; having confrontations with former spouses, each other, and strangers; struggling with drug and alcohol addiction; and dealing with addicted and mentally ill family and household members resulted in utter chaos in Joshua Packer's life. The defense hopes to present that chaos in a manner understandable to jurors at a fair trial.

Following his arrest in another county, a DNA sample was taken from Packer which eventually identified him as a potential perpetrator in the Ventura



County case. Michael Frawley was quickly designated as the lead prosecutor.

On October 14, 2010, Packer offered to plead guilty in exchange for a sentence of life in prison without the possibility of parole. That settlement offer was rejected, but has not been withdrawn. (Vol. 1, at p. 27.)

**1V-A Defense counsel summarized Packer's prima facie showing for recusal in the superior court.**

Defense counsel summarized Packer's prima facie showing in the superior court. This is an illuminating part of the record which petitioner will not repeat here. The summary is memorialized in a reporter's transcript located in Volume 4 at Bates numbered pages 782 through 816. (The attention of the Court of Appeal was directed to that same summary in the Verified Petition for Writ of Mandate in paragraph #20 on page 6, however the page numbers referred to the original pagination of the Reporter's Transcript of Proceedings on November 19, 2012; in that transcript, the relevant pages are 1075 through 1109. From its opinion, there is no indication the Court of Appeal was confused by paragraph #20.)

Although Ventura cannot be considered a small town with a small district attorney's office, in a unique set of circumstances, defendant Packer was friends with prosecutor Frawley's children (Kyle and Ellie) and Thomas Cathcart (Cathcart). Cathcart, at the time, was Packer's best friend and dating Ellie. With Cathcart, and individually, Packer attended many social events in the Frawley home, as well as faith-based activities in the Frawley home at which Frawley's current wife, Linda, was a leader.

A further circumstance: Frawley's former wife, Lisa West (West), was friends with the victims, the Hustedes. Davina Husted (Davina) and West were very active together in the Junior League. While Davina served as President of the Junior League, West served as a member of her Board of Directors. Davina's documents note that Frawley and his current wife Linda are Junior League supporters. Davina's

community service in the Junior League with West, and the support of Frawley and his current wife Linda, will be important “victim-impact” evidence at trial.

The activities and relationships which took place during three, formative teen years are important in Packer’s social history. Frawley’s children were good kids who lived in a good home, and were raised by caring parents and a step-parent active in their church and community. Packer’s life was a dreadful saga of physical and sexual abuse, plus drug-ridden parental emotional abuse and neglect. His experience with the Frawley family reflect desperate attempts to “fit in,” have quality friends, worship God, and escape the anguish of his daily home-life of abuse and trauma.

**IV-B            The Frawley family members and their intimate friends will be essential witnesses for the defense. They are not fungible. They are the witnesses who have the most personal knowledge of mitigating facts, and are the most articulate and credible witnesses to present to the jury. Mr. Frawley’s role as the assigned trial attorney places these witnesses in an untenable position and creates an inevitable conflict of interest for the witnesses.**

The Court of Appeal misses the point by repeatedly emphasizing and stating there were some 50 students involved in the Young Life Christian ministry. Nearly all of the 50 were only involved in some marginal, peripheral, or temporary manner. As was made clear in Packer’s prima facie case, only four have the capacity to be compelling and persuasive witnesses at trial:

- Frawley’s son, Kyle Frawley,
- Frawley’s daughter, Ellie Frawley,
- Ellie’s former boyfriend, and Packer’s best friend, Thomas Cathcart, (who will be an important witness at both the guilt and penalty phase of the trial) and,
- Kristy Benscoter.

These four were the core members of Young Life and those most intimately familiar with Packer’s redeeming traits of character, pro-social behavior, and charitable activities. For three years, they, together with Packer, attempted to understand their

spiritual connection to Christ. The testimony of these four witnesses lies at the very heart of Packer's defense.

Numerous exhibits submitted in support of the application for an evidentiary hearing support the conclusion that Packer had a special relationship with Michael Frawley's daughter, and that Frawley's attempts to minimize the relationship are misleading. An evidentiary hearing would resolve these factual disputes.

This photo from a Woodleaf camping trip by a gathering of both the Oxnard and Ventura Chapters of Young Life depicts Thomas Cathcart, Kristie Bencoter, and Ellie Frawley, with Packer draped affectionately over Kristy to place his head in Ellie's lap:



↑Thomas Cathcart (blond),  
standing, blue shirt.

↑Ellie Frawley ↑Kristy Bencoter, seated.

↑Joshua Packer, red shorts

In contrast to the four, only Packer was attempting to understand his spiritual connection to Christ after a lifetime of unspeakable trauma, abuse, and betrayal by sexually-perverted caretakers.

**1V-C Frawley's conflict of interest has infected every stage of the pretrial proceedings and investigation, and renders it unlikely that Packer will receive a fair trial.**

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