#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

JOSHUA GRAHAM PACKER,

COURT NO. **S213894** 

Petitioner,

VS.

SUPERIOR COURT OF VENTURA COUNTY,

Respondent;

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Real Party in Interest.

Court of Appeal No. B245923

Ventura County Superior Court No. 2010013013

SUPREME COURT FILED

DISTRICT ATTORNEY'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

FEB 21 2014

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

GREGORY D. TOTTEN
District Attorney
MICHELLE J. CONTOIS SB# 174208
Deputy District Attorney
800 South Victoria Avenue
Ventura, CA 93009
Telephone (805) 654-3078

Attorney for Real Party in Interest

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

JOSHUA GRAHAM PACKER,

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

And I'd like to indicate for the Court that all of the information that is currently before the Court legally is something that at an evidentiary hearing would be explored more fully when we had a substantive opportunity to develop this information for the Court.

(4 PE 786:12-16.) Two and a half years after the prosecutor first revealed his children's past acquaintance with petitioner, the motion to recuse was not the

place to "develop information" or to "explore," and the trial court was not required to entertain petitioner's request to do so in an evidentiary hearing. The trial court's decision was thus well within the bounds of reason and guided by the policies and procedures set by the Legislature and recognized by this court.

The discretion not to conduct an evidentiary hearing absent a complete prima facie showing is not unique to the context of recusal motions. For example, trial courts have discretion to determine whether to conduct an evidentiary hearing to resolve factual disputes raised by a claim of juror misconduct. (Dykes, supra, 46 Cal.4th at pp. 809-810, citing Avila, supra, 38 Cal.4th at p. 604.) But defendants are not entitled to evidentiary hearings. Instead a defendant first must demonstrate both misconduct and prejudice. (Avila, supra, 38 Cal.4th at p. 604; People v. Davis (2009) 46 Cal.4th 539, 624-625 [94 Cal.Rptr.3d 322, 399-400, 208 P.3d 78, 143].) Even upon this showing, an evidentiary hearing is not conducted unless the trial court concludes that "the parties' evidence presents a material conflict that can only be resolved at such a hearing." (*Ibid.*) This court has required a multi-pronged prima facie showing in this context because "[t]he hearing should not be used as a 'fishing expedition' to search for possible misconduct, but should be held only when the defense has come forward with evidence demonstrating a strong possibility that prejudicial misconduct has occurred." (Avila, supra, 38 Cal.4th at p. 604 [citations omitted].)

A bilateral showing is also required before an evidentiary hearing may be conducted for determining a petition for a modification of a dependency order, under Welfare and Institutions Code section 388. (See *Spaccia*, *supra*, 209 Cal.App.4th at p. 111.) To succeed on such a petition, the petitioner must prove there has been a change in circumstances and that the proposed change promotes the best interests of the child. (Welf. & Inst. Code, § 388, subds. (a), (d).)

Before an evidentiary hearing is held, the moving party must make a prima facie showing of both elements, a mere change in circumstances in insufficient. (*In re Marcelo B.* (2012) 209 Cal.App.4th 635, 642 [146 Cal.Rptr.3d 908, 913]; citing *In re Zachary G.* (1999) 77 Cal.App.4th 799, 807-808 [92 Cal.Rptr.2d 20].)

On habeas corpus, an evidentiary hearing is required only if, after consideration of the pleadings, affidavits, and declarations, "the court finds there is a reasonable likelihood that the petitioner may be entitled to relief and the petitioner's entitlement to relief depends upon the resolution of an issue of fact." (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 4.551(f). See *Spaccia*, *supra*, 209 Cal.App.4th at pp. 111-112, citing *In re Martinez* (2009) 46 Cal.4th 945, 955 [95 Cal.Rptr.3d 570, 209 P.3d 908]; *In re David* (2012) 202 Cal.App.4th 675, 681 [135 Cal.Rptr.3d 855].) A similar standard is appropriate here. Because petitioner had not alleged facts which, if proven, would constitute a disabling conflict, there was no contested issue of material fact that could determine the outcome of petitioner's motion. The trial court's determination was thus reasonably based on the record and the law.

## B. Petitioner's Alternative Suggestions Lack Authoritative Support and Are Unsound.

Rather than be guided by the established legal principles, petitioner argues for a new standard for trial courts' determinations whether to hold an evidentiary hearing. Petitioner suggests a hearing should be mandated whenever a defendant makes a partial showing but asserts an evidentiary hearing is needed to assess the gravity of an apparent conflict. In the alternative, he proposes a new "intolerable risk" standard. As a third option, petitioner argues an evidentiary hearing should be mandated whenever a defendant is faced with an uncooperative witness. Each of petitioner's proposals is flawed and each should be rejected.

First, petitioner's proposals conflict with both the letter and spirit of section 1424 which imposes no restrictions on a trial court's discretion other than that the decision not be arbitrary, capricious, or beyond reason. (See *Spaccia*, *supra*, 209 Cal.App.4th at p. 104.) To the extent adoption of petitioner's proposals would restrict trial courts' discretion and thereby open the doors to more evidentiary hearings, the proposals disregard the Legislature's intent to curtail the abusive use of evidentiary hearings as fishing expeditions. (See Sen. Com. on Public Safety, Rep. on Assem. Bill No. 154 (1999-2000 Reg. Sess.) as amended May 18, 1999, pp. 3-4.)

Petitioner's suggestion that a hearing should be mandated on a partial showing has been rejected by the Court of Appeal. (Spaccia, supra, 209 Cal.App.4th at p. 112, fn. 33.) For this reason, petitioner attempts to distinguish Spaccia, arguing that Spaccia demonstrated only an appearance of impropriety and that such a modest showing was insufficient to support her motion to recuse. (Petitioner's Opening Brief at p. 4.) But "appearance of impropriety" is simply another term for "apparent conflict." Thus the Court of Appeal has explained, "[s]ection 1424 was the Legislature's response to *Greer* and other criminal cases stressing the importance of the appearance of impropriety and other 'apparent' conflicts as bases for prosecutorial disqualification." (People v. Lopez, supra, 155 Cal.App.3d at p. 824 [emphasis added].) Spaccia therefore was denied an evidentiary hearing not because she demonstrated an "appearance of impropriety" rather than an "apparent conflict," but because section 1424 requires defendants demonstrate an actual likelihood of unfairness and thus prohibits recusal "solely on the ground of the appearance of impropriety." (People v. Jenan (2006) 140 Cal.App.4th 782, 791-792 [44 Cal.Rptr.3d 771, 775-776], citing *People v. Conner* (1983) 34 Cal.3d 141, 147-148 [193 Cal.Rptr. 148, 151, 666 P.2d 5, 8]; *Eubanks*, *supra*, 14 Cal.4th at p. 592.)

The People agree that a mere appearance of impropriety is insufficient to support recusal of a prosecutor. On this point, *Spaccia* cannot be distinguished from this case because petitioner's evidence showed no more than an apparent conflict based on his decision to place Kyle's and Elizabeth's names on his witness list.

Factually, *Spaccia* dealt with allegations similar to those lodged in this case, namely that a witness was being favored and hidden by prosecutors in order to hide exonerating evidence. (*Spaccia*, *supra*, 209 Cal.App.4th at p. 98.) Like petitioner, Spaccia wanted the evidentiary hearing to force the witness to provide answers she could not otherwise discern. (*Id.*, at p. 112.) The Court of Appeal assumed the defendant had demonstrated an apparent conflict (*id.*, at p. 107), but noted her attempt to establish an actual likelihood of unfairness, like petitioner's herein, was based on speculation and was unpersuasive. (*Ibid.*) Thus Spaccia failed to show an actual likelihood of unfairness and her request for an evidentiary hearing was denied. Likewise, petitioner's arguments were circular and speculative. Because petitioner did not establish an actual likelihood of unfairness, the trial court acted reasonably in denying his request for an evidentiary hearing.

Like the partial showing argument, petitioner's uncooperative witness proposal would usurp the Legislature's authority and sanction section 1424 motions as alternative discovery proceedings. Petitioner's argument for this rule is not supported by his citation to *Morrow v. Superior Court* (1994) 30 Cal.App.4th 1252 [36 Cal.Rptr.2d 210]. That case involved circumstances wherein prosecutorial misconduct had already been established. Due to the nature of the misconduct, it was the People's burden to establish not only that the defendant had not suffered prejudice, but also "that there was no substantial threat of demonstrable prejudice." (*Id.*, at p. 1258.) The case was dismissed then

not to penalize the refusal to testify, but because the People could not meet their burden without the testimony. For this reason, *Morrow* does not advance petitioner's argument that an evidentiary hearing is necessary whenever a witness is uncooperative.

Arguing for an uncooperative witness rule, petitioner refers to a letter authored by a deputy public defender in Los Angeles County. (Petitioner's Opening Brief at p. 7.) The letter relies primarily on two cases, *People v. Brophy* (1992) 5 Cal.App.4th 932 [7 Cal.Rptr.2d 367](*Brophy*), and *People v. Williams* (1999) 20 Cal.4th 119 [83 Cal.Rptr.2d 275, 973 P.2d 52](*Williams*), neither of which provides support for the uncooperative witness rule petitioner proposes.

In. *Brophy*, the trial court had ordered the People to provide discovery as to whether or not a search had been conducted pursuant to a warrant. (*Brophy*, *supra*, 5 Cal.App.4th at pp. 937-938.) The discovery was not provided. (*Ibid*.) The Court of Appeal held the trial court should have either enforced its discovery order or shifted the burden to the prosecution to prove the search was authorized by a warrant. (*Id.*, at p. 938.) Unlike the circumstances in *Brophy*, there were no discovery violations in this case. In fact the trial court specifically refused to order the prosecutor to answer the interrogatories posed by defense counsel. (See 4 PE 818:14-26, 830:16-19 [People's argument that defense request the prosecutor answer counsel's questions had been denied by trial court].) Because there was no discovery order to enforce, there was no reason to shift or alter the burden of proof as a sanction.

Likewise, the concerns at issue in *Williams* are not relevant here. At issue in *Williams* was "the burden of raising an issue" which the court noted "is distinct from the burden of proof." (*Williams*, *supra*, 20 Cal.4th at p. 130.) Moreover, "[i]t is axiomatic" "that warrantless searches are per se unreasonable... and that the People have the burden of proving that any search without a

warrant comes within one of [the carefully circumscribed] exceptions." (*People v. Laiwa* (1983) 34 Cal.3d 711, 725 [195 Cal.Rptr. 503, 511, 669 P.2d 1278, 1286]; *People v. Schmitz* (2012) 55 Cal.4th 909, 933 [149 Cal.Rptr.3d 640, 663, 288 P.3d 1259, 1277].)

The *Williams* court was concerned that "requiring defendants to guess what justification the prosecution will offer" would lead to voluminous motions "filled with pages of unnecessary argument about justifications that the prosecution is readily willing to concede are inapplicable." (*Williams*, *supra*, 20 Cal.4th at pp. 129-130.) This pragmatic concern justified the court's apportionment of pleading requirements, but did not alter the burden of proof. Petitioner's uncooperative witness proposal however would alter both the burden of pleading and of proof and would undercut the Legislature's justified response to pragmatic concerns about unnecessary recusal motions and the potential for misuse of evidentiary hearings.

Finally, the proposed standards fail to provide meaningful guidance to trial courts. Contrary to petitioner's assertion, no court is ever "forced" to deny an evidentiary hearing. Section 1424 already permits a trial court to conduct an evidentiary hearing when the court – and not merely the defendant – determines a hearing is necessary to assess the gravity of any alleged or proven conflict or apparent conflict. The broad discretion to hold an evidentiary hearing might also permit a trial court to conduct such hearings when the judge believes a prosecutor has wrongfully withheld evidence.

There is thus no sound reason to create a new rule or to interpose a new "intolerable risk" standard. This conclusory term simply means a party has successfully demonstrated he is entitled to a remedy. But the Legislature and this court have already determined a defendant is entitled to the remedy of recusal only upon proof of "an actual likelihood of unfair treatment." (Haraguchi,

supra, 43 Cal.4th at p. 719 [emphasis original].) This court has applied this standard many times and has never suggested, as does petitioner, that the standard is unreasonably burdensome.

# C. Petitioner's Suggestions Rest on a Flawed Premise because the Trial Court Did Assess the Gravity of the Conflict.

Petitioner's arguments for new prima facie standards presuppose that the trial court needed to conduct an evidentiary hearing to assess the gravity of the apparent conflict or to hear from additional witnesses. But this assumption is not supported by the trial court's conclusions. Instead, the court, discussing the impact of the entirety of petitioner's submissions, pointedly stated, "it just doesn't demonstrate to the Court that there is evidence on which to conclude that a hearing would demonstrate that there is a disabling conflict." (4 PE 842-843.)

It is important to note that the trial court considered far more than the law required. Although the statute demands defendants present verified non-hearsay affidavits in support of a motion to recuse (§1424(a)(1)), the majority of petitioner's evidentiary submissions consisted of hearsay and other inadmissible material such as opinion and speculation: so much so that striking the inadmissible material – with minimal oral argument – required several hours of the court's time.

Excluding the inadmissible submissions was appropriate. (*Spaccia*, *supra*, 209 Cal.App.4th at p. 98, fn. 10.) "Normally, hearsay is not sufficient to trigger the court's duty to make further inquiries." (*People v. Hayes* (1999) 21 Cal.4th 1211, 1256 [91 Cal.Rptr.2d 211, 241, 989 P.2d 645, 672] [motion for new trial].) "[A]n affidavit which is to be used as evidence must be positive, direct and not based upon hearsay.' [Citation.] A ruling 'of the court is to be based upon facts which may be presented to it, and not upon the belief of the

affiant." (Star Motor Imports, Inc. v. Superior Court (1979) 88 Cal.App.3d 201, 204 [151 Cal.Rptr. 721] [writ of mandate]. See also People v. Madaris (1981) 122 Cal.App.3d 234, 241-242 [175 Cal.Rptr. 869] disapproved of on another point by People v. Barrick (1982) 33 Cal.3d 115 [187 Cal.Rptr. 716]; Brown v. Superior Court (1987) 189 Cal.App.3d 260, 265 [234 Cal.Rptr. 416] [motion to continue]; People v. Oppel (1990) 222 Cal.App.3d 1146, 1153 [272 Cal.Rptr. 340] [disclosure of confidential informant identity under Evidence Code section 1042(d)].)

Though the court could have ignored the voluminous hearsay, the record demonstrates all of petitioner's submissions were considered. "I have read it all. You can't unring the bell." (4 PE 841:10-11.) At the conclusion of the hearing the court noted "my decision would be exactly the same had the People not moved to strike the hearsay and lack of foundation evidence from the declarations, it just doesn't demonstrate to the Court that there is evidence on which to conclude that a hearing would demonstrate that there is a disabling conflict." (4 PE 842-843.)

The record thereby demonstrates the trial court did assess the gravity of the apparent conflict and did so with the benefit of petitioner's entire presentation. The court permitted petitioner to present his entire claim largely through reports and declarations authored by his own attorneys and investigators unfettered by the rules of evidence and untested by cross-examination. Yet even this unencumbered presentation fell short.

The trial court's conclusion that an evidentiary hearing was unnecessary was therefore neither arbitrary nor capricious. As the court had already considered petitioner's unencumbered presentation there was no reasonable probability an evidentiary hearing, where petitioner's burden would be even greater, would cure petitioner's failure to make a prima facie showing that the

alleged conflict warranted recusal. (Cf. *People v. Vasquez* (2006) 39 Cal.4th 47, 66 [45 Cal.Rptr.3d 372, 385, 137 P.3d 199, 211]; *People v. Watson* (1956) 46 Cal.2d 818, 836 [299 P.2d 243]; Cal. Const. art. VI, § 13 [harmless error standard met if no reasonable probability absence of alleged error would have led to result more favorable to petitioner].)

#### IV.

# THE TRIAL COURT'S DETERMINATION WAS REASONABLE

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